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AN ACT relating to the Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky:

Section 1.   KRS 198B.700 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

As used in Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738], unless otherwise provided:

(1)
"Applicant" means an individual who applies for a license as a home inspector;

(2)
"Board" means the Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors established under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[in KRS 198B.704];

(3)
"Client" or "home inspector client" means a person who contracts with a licensed home inspector to obtain a home inspection and subsequent written home inspection report;

(4)
"Commission" means the Kentucky Real Estate Commission["Department" means the Kentucky Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction];

(5)
"Home inspection" or "inspection" means a visual analysis for the purpose of providing a professional opinion by a licensed home inspector, of the condition of a residential dwelling and the dwelling's attached garages and carports, any reasonable accessible installed components, and the operation of the dwelling's systems, including any controls normally operated by the owner of the dwelling, for systems and components in the standards of practice established by the board. Home inspection shall not include a code compliance inspection, or an inspection required under the National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, 42 U.S.C. secs. 5401 et seq., as amended, and rules and regulations issued thereunder, or KRS 227.600 regarding manufactured homes;

(6)
"Home inspection report" means a written report prepared by a licensed home inspector for compensation and issued after a home inspection. The report shall include the following:

(a)
A report on any system or component inspected that, in the professional opinion of the inspector, is significantly deficient;

(b)
The inspector's recommendation to repair or monitor deficiencies reported under paragraph (a) of this subsection;

(c)
A list of any systems or components that were designated for inspection in the standards of practice adopted by the board but that were not inspected; and

(d)
The reason a system or component listed under paragraph (c) of this subsection was not inspected;

(7)
"Home inspector" or "licensed home inspector" means an individual who performs home inspections for compensation;

(8)
"Home inspector license" or "inspector license" means a license issued by the board granting the licensed individual the ability to legally perform home inspections under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act;
(9)
"Home inspector licensee" or "inspector licensee"["Licensee"] means a person who performs home inspections and who is licensed under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738] as a home inspector;[ and]
(10)[(9)]
"Residential dwelling" means a structure consisting of at least one (1) but not more than four (4) units, each designed for occupancy by a single family, whether the units are occupied or unoccupied; and

(11)
"Significantly deficient" means that a system or component does not perform its intended function or does not adequately function.

Section 2.   KRS 198B.702 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738] shall apply to an individual who conducts home inspections for compensation, but shall not apply to the following:

(1)
An individual who is acting within the scope of the individual's employment as:

(a)
A code enforcement official for the state or a political subdivision of the state; or

(b)
A representative of a state or local housing agency or an individual acting under the authority of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development;

(2)
An individual who is acting within the scope of the individual's license as a licensed:

(a)
Architect under KRS Chapter 323;

(b)
Professional engineer under KRS Chapter 322;

(c)
Plumbing contractor or journeyman plumber under KRS Chapter 318;

(d)
Electrician, master electrician, or electrical contractor under KRS Chapter 227A;

(e)
Liquefied petroleum gas dealers under KRS Chapter 234; or

(f)
Master heating, ventilation, and air conditioning contractor, journeyman heating, ventilation, and air conditioning mechanic, or an apprentice heating, ventilation, and air conditioning mechanic under KRS Chapter 198B[this chapter];

(3)
An individual licensed under this chapter[KRS Chapter 324] as a real estate broker, broker-salesperson, or salesperson and is acting within the scope of the individual's license;

(4)
An individual who is licensed under KRS Chapter 324A as a real estate appraiser and is acting within the scope of the individual's license;

(5)
An individual who holds a license under KRS Chapter 304 as an insurance adjuster and is acting within the scope of the individual's license;

(6)
An individual who holds a permit, certificate, or license to:

(a)
Use and apply pesticides; or

(b)
Make diagnostic inspections and reports for wood destroying pests and fungi under KRS Chapter 217B and is acting within the scope of the individual's certificate or license;

(7)
An individual who holds a license from a political subdivision as a tradesperson or home builder and is acting within the scope of the individual's license;

(8)
An individual who holds a current and valid license, certificate, or permit under KRS 227.550 to 227.660 and is acting within the scope of the individual's license, certificate, or permit as a:

(a)
Manufactured home retailer;

(b)
Manufactured home certified retailer; or

(c)
Manufactured home certified installer; or

(9)
Employees of the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction or the State Fire Marshal's[Marshall's] Office acting in their official capacities as inspectors of buildings and manufactured housing.

SECTION 3.   KRS 198B.704 IS REPEALED AND REENACTED AS A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 324 TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

(1)
There is created a board to be known as the Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors.

(2)
The board shall be composed of the following ten (10) members appointed by the Governor:

(a)
Five (5) of the board members shall:

1.
Have been actively engaged in performing home inspections in Kentucky for at least five (5) years immediately before the member's appointment to the board, or have completed one hundred (100) fee-paid inspections per year over the last five (5) years; and

2.
Be licensed by the board as a home inspector; and

(b)
The other five (5) board members shall be qualified as follows:

1.
One (1) member shall be a home builder who has been actively engaged in home building in Kentucky for at least five (5) years immediately before the member's appointment to the board. This member shall be selected from a list of three (3) names submitted to the Governor from the Home Builders Association of Kentucky;

2.
One (1) member shall be a licensed real estate salesperson or broker under this chapter who has been actively engaged in selling, trading, exchanging, optioning, leasing, renting, managing, or listing residential real estate in Kentucky for at least five (5) years immediately before the member's appointment to the board. This member shall be selected from a list of three (3) names submitted to the Governor from the Kentucky Association of Realtors;

3.
One (1) member shall represent the public at large and shall not be associated with the home inspection, home building, or real estate business other than as a consumer. This member shall be appointed by the Governor, but shall not be selected from a submitted list of names;

4.
One (1) member shall be a licensed manufactured home retailer, certified retailer, or certified installer who has been actively engaged in such an occupation for at least five (5) years immediately before the member's appointment to the board. This member shall be selected from a list of three (3) names submitted to the Governor from the Kentucky Manufactured Housing Institute; and

5.
One (1) member shall be the chairperson of the commission or his or her designee.

(3)
The members of the board shall be residents of Kentucky. All members, except the chairperson of the commission or his or her designee, shall serve a term of three (3) years, or until a successor has been duly appointed.

(4)
The Governor may remove a board member at any time for incompetence, neglect of duty, or unprofessional conduct.

(5)
If a vacancy occurs in the membership of the board, the Governor shall appoint an individual to serve for the remainder of the unexpired term who has like qualifications required of the member who created the vacancy.

(6)
A member shall not serve on the board for more than six (6) years.

(7)
Each year the board shall elect a member as chairperson and a member as vice chairperson.

(8)
The chairperson and vice chairperson shall serve in their respective capacities for no more than one (1) year consecutively and until a successor is elected.

(9)
The chairperson shall preside at all meetings at which the chairperson is present. The vice chairperson shall preside at meetings in the absence of the chairperson and shall perform other duties as the chairperson directs.

(10)
If the chairperson and vice chairperson are absent from a meeting of the board when a quorum exists, the members who are present may elect a presiding officer who shall serve as acting chairperson until the conclusion of the meeting or until the arrival of the chairperson or vice chairperson.

(11)
The board shall meet at least quarterly each calendar year upon the call of the chairperson or the written request of a majority of the members of the board.

(12)
The chairperson shall establish the date, time, and place for each meeting.

(13)
A majority of the members of the board constitutes a quorum.

(14)
The affirmative vote of at least six (6) members in attendance at a duly constituted meeting of the board is necessary for the board to take official action.

(15)
Each member of the board is entitled to a minimum salary of thirty-five dollars ($35) per diem. Each member of the board is entitled to reimbursement for traveling expenses and other expenses actually incurred in connection with the member's duties as established under KRS 45.101.

(16)
A member shall be deemed to have forfeited his or her membership, that member's term on the board shall be automatically ended, and a vacancy shall be created if a member fails to adhere to an opinion of the Executive Branch Ethics Commission within thirty (30) days of its issuance or a duly adopted code of ethics of the board. 

(a)
The board shall promulgate administrative regulations adopting a code of ethics consistent with the policies of the Commonwealth as enacted, KRS Chapter 11A, applicable Executive Orders, and paragraph (b) of this subsection.

(b)
The board’s adopted code of ethics also shall include:

1.
A requirement that board members shall not participate in ex parte contacts with continuing education providers, persons who have matters pending before the board for its action, or any other contacts which may reasonably tend to create the appearance of conflict or impropriety;

2
A requirement that members take a board-approved course of study in Kentucky home inspector statutes and administrative regulations, including the code of ethics, within one (1) year after appointment to the board;

3.
A prohibition against advertising or marketing any service or product with reference to the board member’s appointment to or position on the board at any time during, or for the two (2) years following, service on the board; and

4.
For code of ethics complaints, a complaint procedure protecting complainants from retaliation by the board.

(c)
A board member shall not receive any compensation or reimbursement for any expense other than mileage whenever a duly adopted board code of ethics is not in effect. When there is a conflict between enacted state policies, KRS Chapter 11A, or applicable Executive Orders and the board’s code of ethics, the enacted state policies, KRS Chapter 11A, or applicable Executive Orders shall take precedence.

(d)
The board shall determine the actual date a board member failed to adhere to the code of ethics by a public vote of the board immediately following a public hearing receiving all evidence pertinent to the complaint or to be considered by the board. The non-adhering member’s term shall end and a vacancy shall be created automatically as of the date so determined, by operation of law without any further action by the board. A board member subject to an ethics complaint to the board or the Executive Branch Ethics Commission, alleged to have failed to adhere in any way, or the subject of a hearing under this paragraph shall not participate as a board member in any board action in which that board member's alleged failure to adhere is on the agenda or to be considered, except that this member may present material evidence that would be admissible under the Kentucky Rules of Evidence and that may include that member’s own testimony under oath.

SECTION 4.   KRS 198B.706 IS REPEALED AND REENACTED AS A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 324 TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

The board shall:

(1)
Through the promulgation of administrative regulations:

(a)
Determine the requirements for and prescribe the form of inspector licenses, applications, and other documents that are required by Sections 1 to 19 of this Act; and

(b)
Require that a home inspection report include a statement that the home inspection report does not address environmental hazards;

(2)
Grant, deny, suspend, and revoke approval of examinations and courses of study regarding home inspections. A course of study shall not be approved unless the course provider has been approved by the State Board for Proprietary Education. For this purpose, the State Board for Proprietary Education shall deem all schools and providers offering courses of study to Kentucky residents regarding home inspections or education credits for Kentucky home inspector licensing to be proprietary schools within the meaning of KRS Chapter 165A. All schools and providers, wherever situated or however organized, offering courses of study regarding home inspections shall meet uniform standards. The Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors shall establish surety bond requirements of at least fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for these approved providers and shall adopt by the promulgation of administrative regulations the least burdensome procedural requirements for approvals or renewal and for recordkeeping by providers, to maximize course offerings available for home inspectors. Course offerings shall be approved with the following restrictions:

(a)
The board shall retain exclusive jurisdiction over:

1.
The content, duration, and organization of continuing education courses, which shall contribute to the competence of home inspectors and the ethical conduct of entities in the home inspection business; and

2.
Requirements for inspector prelicensing courses and inspector license renewal courses and instructor qualifications;

(b)
A course of study shall not be approved or accepted for inspector license renewal purposes if a member of the board is a director or officer of the provider, or a recipient of gifts, compensation, reimbursements, or other things of value in excess of twenty-five dollars ($25) from the provider, or any entity with an ownership interest in the provider, in the two (2) years preceding the approval or acceptance;

(c)
A distance learning course of study shall not be approved or accepted for inspector prelicensing or continuing education credits without accreditation of the provider and the course by an independent national distance learning accreditation organization accepted by the United States Department of Education or the Kentucky Real Estate Commission;

(d)
At least two-thirds (2/3) of any continuing education course credits applied toward any inspector license renewal shall be earned in courses of study that are in-person, face-to-face instruction, including field instruction;

(e)
Complete and uniform standards for approval of courses of study and their credits for inspector license renewal shall be set out in administrative regulations promulgated by the board for in-person courses of study and distance learning courses, and all courses of study reasonably satisfying those standards and Sections 1 to 19 of this Act shall be approved. Other than requirements that reasonably reflect differences between in-person courses and distance learning courses, all courses of study shall meet the same minimum uniform standards, through the same process, without exception;

(f)
Each course of study and all credits applicable to inspector license renewal authorized for any course of study shall be individually approved, denied, or otherwise acted upon by the affirmative vote of at least six (6) members of the board; and

(g)
Instructors of approved inspector continuing education courses shall receive credits for teaching time equal to the continuing education credits awarded to students for participation time;
(3)
Issue, deny, suspend, place on probation, require additional continuing education, and revoke inspector licenses for violations of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act;

(4)
Investigate complaints concerning inspector licensees, or persons the board has reason to believe should be inspector licensees, including complaints concerning failure to comply with Sections 1 to 19 of this Act or administrative regulations promulgated under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, and, when appropriate, take action in accordance with Sections 15 and 16 of this Act;

(5)
Bring actions in the name of the state in an appropriate court in order to enforce compliance with Sections 1 to 19 of this Act or the administrative regulations promulgated under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act;

(6)
Establish inspector license fees in an amount not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars ($250) annually;

(7)
Inspect the records of an inspector licensee in accordance with administrative regulations promulgated by the board;

(8)
Conduct or designate a member or other representative to conduct public hearings on any matter for which a hearing is required under Sections 15 and 16 of this Act and exercise all powers granted under KRS Chapter 13B;

(9)
Adopt a seal containing the words "Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors" and, through the board's secretary, certify copies and authenticate all acts of the board;

(10)
Use counsel, consultants, and other persons, enter into contracts, and authorize expenditures that are reasonably necessary or appropriate to administer and enforce Sections 1 to 19 of this Act and administrative regulations promulgated thereunder;

(11)
Establish continuing education requirements for licensed home inspectors in accordance with Sections 1 to 19 of this Act;

(12)
Maintain the board's office, files, records, and property in the city of Frankfort;

(13)
Require all fee-paid home inspections to be conducted in accordance with the standards of practice of:

(a)
The American Society of Home Inspectors;

(b)
The National Association of Home Inspectors; or

(c)
Any other approved standards of practice that are equal to the standards of practice of the organizations in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subsection.


The board may establish standards of practice for licensed home inspectors in Kentucky at a later date, which will supersede any other standards of practice previously adopted by the board and, if promulgated by administrative regulation, the standards in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subsection;

(14)
Exercise all other powers specifically conferred on the board under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act; and

(15)
Promulgate administrative regulations to carry out the effective administration and the requirements of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act.

Section 5.   KRS 198B.708 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
The Kentucky Real Estate Commission[department] shall provide the board with:

(a)[(1)]
Clerical or other assistants, including investigators, necessary for the proper performance of the board's duties;

(b)[(2)]
A place to hold board meetings and hearings; and

(c)[(3)]
Office equipment and office space for board records, staff, and other effects necessary to carry out the requirements of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act.

(2)
All assistants to the board shall be subject to and bound by its code of ethics. The commission shall ensure that all assistants to the board are free of conflicts of interest of any kind and that no administrator, attorney, staff member, or employee assigned to or serving the board:

(a)
Is concurrently assigned to or serving in any capacity any other agency business, candidate, lobbyist, or lobbyist's principal, officer, or entity with jurisdiction in statute, or otherwise asserted, which overlaps or is concurrent with that of the board in any way, actual or prospective, in whole or in part, or doing business with the board, as those terms are defined in KRS 11A.010; or

(b)
Has any public duty actually or apparently in conflict with interests of the board, its exercise of all powers and authority conferred by Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, or its authority regarding any accompanying administrative regulations[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738].

Section 6.   KRS 198B.710 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
There is established in the State Treasury a revolving fund for the use by the board.

(2)
All fees and other money received by the board in accordance with Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.706, 198B.712, 198B.714, 198B.722, and 198B.724] shall be deposited in the revolving fund established in subsection (1) of this section.

(3)
No part of this revolving fund shall revert to the general fund.

(4)
The compensation of board members and all of the board's expenses incurred by the board shall be paid from this revolving fund, including expenses attributable to the assistance set forth in Section 5 of this Act and subsection (6) of Section 17 of this Act[KRS 198B.708 and 198B.732(6)].

(5)
Reasonable costs of services incurred by the commission pursuant to Section 5 of this Act and subsection (6) of Section 17 of this Act shall be reimbursed from this revolving fund.

(6)
Costs for research, publications, and other public services the board finds to be in the public interest, including creation of a consumer protection fund similar to that maintained by the commission, may be paid from this revolving fund.

Section 7.   KRS 198B.712 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
An individual shall not advertise or claim to be a licensed home inspector and shall not conduct a home inspection for compensation without first obtaining a license as a home inspector.

(2)
An individual shall not advertise as, claim to be, or operate as a home inspection business unless an owner or employee of that business is a licensed home inspector.

(3)
The board shall deny an inspector[a] license to any applicant who fails to:

(a)
Furnish evidence satisfactory to the board, showing that the individual:

1.
Is at least eighteen (18) years of age;

2.
Has graduated from high school or earned a Kentucky or other state's general educational development (GED) diploma; and

3.
Meets other criteria established by the board;

(b)
Verify the information submitted on the application form;

(c)
Complete a board-approved training program or course of study involving the performance of home inspections, and pass an examination prescribed or approved by the board;

(d)
Submit to the board a certificate of insurance that is acceptable to the board and that:

1.
Is issued by an insurance company or other legal entity authorized to transact insurance business in Kentucky;

2.
Provides for general liability coverage of at least two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000);

3.
Lists the Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors as a certificate holder of any insurance policy issued under this paragraph;

4.
States that cancellation and nonrenewal of the underlying policy is not effective until the board receives at least ten (10) days' prior written notice of the cancellation or nonrenewal; and

5.
Contains any other terms and conditions established by the board; or

(e)
Pay a licensing fee established in Section 4 of this Act[KRS 198B.706].

(4)
An individual applying for a license as a home inspector shall apply on a written or electronic form prescribed and provided by the board.

Section 8.   KRS 198B.714 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
The licensing requirements for a home inspector may be waived for a person moving to Kentucky from another jurisdiction, and the person may be granted a license as a home inspector if the person meets the following requirements:

(a)
The other jurisdiction grants the same privileges to inspector licensees of Kentucky as Kentucky grants to inspector licensees of that other jurisdiction;

(b)
The person is licensed as a home inspector in the other jurisdiction;

(c)
The licensing requirements of the other jurisdiction are substantially similar to the requirements of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738]; and

(d)
The person states that he or she has studied, is familiar with, and will abide by Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738] and the administrative regulations promulgated by the board.

(2)
A person seeking a license as a home inspector under this section shall:

(a)
Apply on a form prescribed and provided by the board; and

(b)
Pay the applicable inspector licensing fee established by the board.

Section 9.   KRS 198B.716 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
A nonresident whom the board determines meets the requirements of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738] and who files the written consent described in subsection (2) of this section may be licensed as a home inspector in Kentucky.

(2)
A nonresident applicant shall file with the board a written consent stating that, if licensed as a home inspector:

(a)
The applicant agrees to the commencement of any action arising out of the conduct of the applicant's business in Kentucky in the county in which the events giving rise to the cause of action occurred;

(b)
The applicant:

1.
Agrees to provide to the board the name and address of an agent to receive service of process in Kentucky; or

2.
Consents to the board acting as the applicant's agent for the purpose of receiving service of process if:

a.
An agent's name and address have not been filed with the board; or

b.
The agent's name and address on file with the board are incorrect; and

(c)
The applicant agrees that service of process in accordance with the Kentucky Rules of Civil Procedure is proper service and subjects the applicant to the jurisdiction of Kentucky courts.

(3)
The board may consider and accept the successful completion by a nonresident of a training program or course of study completed in another state in lieu of the requirements of subsection (3)(c) of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712(3)(c)] if the board determines the training program or course of study meets or exceeds the requirements of subsection (3)(c) of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712(3)(c)] and its implementing administrative regulations, or the board may give credit for such program or course of study towards meeting the requirements of subsection (3)(c) of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712(3)(c)]. The nonresident shall still be subject to the examination requirements of  subsection (3)(c) of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712(3)(c)].

Section 10.   KRS 198B.718 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

All home inspector licenses issued by the board shall remain the property of the board.

Section 11.   KRS 198B.720 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

An inspector[A] licensee shall notify the board within thirty (30) days of any change of:

(1)
Name;

(2)
Name under which the inspector licensee conducts business; or

(3)
Business address.

Section 12.   KRS 198B.722 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
The initial license for a home inspector issued in accordance with Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738,] shall expire on the last day of the inspector licensee's birth month in the following year. The board may reduce the inspector license fee on a pro rata basis for initial inspector licenses issued for less than twelve (12) months.

(2)
Renewed inspector licenses shall expire on the last day of the inspector licensee's birth month of each even numbered year after the date of issuance of the renewed inspector license.

(3)
An individual who applies to renew a license as a licensed home inspector shall:

(a)
Furnish evidence showing successful completion of the continuing education requirements of this section;

(b)
Pay the renewal fee and late fee, if applicable, established by the board;

(c)
Show proof of general liability insurance in the amount required by subsection (3)(d) of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712(3)(d)]; and

(d)
Submit an acceptable background check.

(4)
Renewal notices shall be sent to each inspector licensee at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the inspector license. The notice shall inform the inspector licensee of the need to renew and the requirement of payment of the renewal fee. If this notice of expiration is not sent by the board, the inspector licensee is not subject to a sanction for failure to renew if, once notice is received from the board, the inspector license is renewed within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of the notice.

(5)
Renewal and applicable late fees shall be paid with a credit card, a draft, a money order, a cashier's check, a certified or other personal check, or, if payment is made in person, the payment may be made in cash. If the board receives an uncertified personal check for the renewal fee and if the check does not clear the bank, the board may refuse to renew the inspector license.

(6)
Before the end of each inspector license period, each inspector licensee shall complete the continuing education required by the board. This requirement shall not exceed thirty (30) hours per two (2) year license cycle. This requirement shall be effective beginning January 1, 2005.

(7)
The board may, through the promulgation of administrative regulations:

(a)
Establish an inactive inspector license for inspector licensees who are not actively engaging in the home inspection business but wish to maintain their inspector license;

(b)
Reduce inspector license and renewal fees for inactive inspector licenses; and

(c)
Waive the insurance requirements established in Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712] for inactive inspector licenses.

Section 13.   KRS 198B.724 is repealed and reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324 to read as follows:

The board shall promulgate administrative regulations concerning the continuing education required for the renewal of a home inspector license and shall:

(1)
Establish procedures for approving organizations that provide continuing education; and

(2)
Prescribe the content, duration, and organization of continuing education courses that contribute to the competence of home inspectors.

Section 14.   KRS 198B.726 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
As used in this section, "political subdivision" means any city, county, or consolidated local government.

(2)
No agency or political subdivision of the state, other than the board, shall impose the following on individuals licensed as home inspectors under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act[KRS 198B.700 to 198B.738]:

(a)
A registration or licensing requirement; or

(b)
A license fee to obtain any local license, except that this prohibition shall not prevent any local government from imposing an occupational license tax on any person operating as a home inspector within the jurisdiction of the local government.

SECTION 15.   KRS 198B.728 IS REPEALED AND REENACTED AS A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 324 TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

The board shall take disciplinary actions against or impose sanctions on an inspector licensee for failing to comply with any home inspector provision of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act or any administrative regulations promulgated to carry out the home inspector provisions of Sections 1 to 19 of this Act.

SECTION 16.   KRS 198B.730 IS REPEALED AND REENACTED AS A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 324 TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

(1)
All complaints against inspector licensees shall be submitted to the board on board-prepared forms that require notarized statements sworn under penalties of perjury.

(a)
The board complaint form shall include:

1.
A damages statement prepared by the board attached to the complaint with copies of each receipt, estimate, or other evidence of damages attached to the statement, to be completed by the complainant;

2.
The date on which the complainant signed the inspection report complained of or had actual knowledge of the cause of action or the date on which circumstances would reasonably put the home inspector client on notice of the cause of action with supporting facts;

3.
The dates on which any notice of claim and any subsequent actions pursuant to KRS 411.270 to 411.282 were taken, if any, and the status of all such actions and any resulting agreement;

4.
A listing of any other proceedings, including without limitation any civil action, arbitration, mediation, and administrative complaint, involving the same residence, attached garage, or any persons named in the complaint, or parties to any transaction involving those properties; and

5.
The notarized signature of the complainant verifying the statements in the complaint are true and complete under penalties of perjury.

(b)
All disciplinary, inspector license renewal, and inspector license reinstatement forms shall be freely available, posted on the board’s Web site, and available on request at its offices and by surface, overnight, and electronic mail at no charge. A day on which a required form is unavailable from the board for any reason shall not be counted in the computation of any time period.

(c)
The complaint shall state sufficient facts that, if true, would constitute a prima facie case that the inspector licensee has violated a provision of subsection (9), (10), or (11) of this section.

(d)
If the complaint does not constitute a prima facie case, then the board shall allow the complainant ten (10) days to revise and supplement the complaint in order to cure any defect, using a form prepared by the board. If the complainant fails to respond within ten (10) days or if the revised and supplemented complaint does not constitute a prima facie case that the inspector licensee has violated subsection (9), (10), or (11) of this section, the board or its hearing officer shall dismiss the matter without requiring the inspector licensee to file or serve a response and without an administrative hearing.

(e)
If the board or hearing officer concludes the board lacks jurisdiction, the board or its hearing officer shall dismiss the matter with prejudice without requiring the inspector licensee to file or serve a response and without an administrative hearing.

(f)
The board shall promptly notify the complainant and the respondent inspector licensee of any dismissal in whole or in part. The notice shall include a brief statement explaining the board’s reasons for the decision and shall advise the inspector licensee that a copy of the complaint may be obtained from the board at no charge. All such notices shall be public no later than the date of the decision.

(g)
If the matter is the subject of pending litigation, an unresolved claim under KRS 411.270 to 411.282, an arbitration or mediation agreement, or other administrative proceeding, the board shall suspend processing the complaint and hold the matter in abeyance pending resolution of the case or matter. The board shall promptly notify the complainant that the proceeding is held in abeyance, and provide a form approved by the board for the complainant to file with the board, accompanied by the final judgment, order, or other determination in such a case or proceeding, in order to return the complaint to active consideration by the board.

(h)
The complainant may withdraw a complaint, and thereby render the complaint null, void, and without effect, if:

1.
An answer has not been filed in accordance with this section;

2.
The withdrawal is made within twenty (20) days of the date the complaint was filed; or

3.
There is good cause for the withdrawal and the board approves the withdrawal.

(2)
If the complaint constitutes a prima facie case that an inspector licensee has violated subsection (9), (10), or (11) of this section, a copy of the complaint, with exhibits attached, and any other communication, including without limitation supplemental papers, between the board or its agents with the complainant, and all subsequent pleadings and papers filed in the matter, shall be served on the inspector licensee by the board, together with a notice of the specific provision of this section and any standard or rule referenced therein, alleged to have been violated, at the inspector licensee’s last known address, and the board shall certify that there has been service by writing to that address. The notice shall include a statement of the procedures to be followed by the board and the parties in proceeding with review of and action upon the complaint.

(3)
If the board serves the complaint on the inspector licensee, the inspector licensee shall file with the board an answer to the complaint, properly notarized, on forms prepared by the board and provided to the inspector licensee with service of the complaint. The answer shall be returned to the board within twenty (20) days from the date on which the complaint was served on the inspector licensee. The inspector licensee shall deliver to the complainant at his or her address as given in the complaint a copy of the answer, with exhibits attached, and any subsequent pleadings and papers filed by the inspector licensee in the matter. Upon receipt of the answer, the board shall notify the complainant that an answer has been filed. The notice shall include a statement of the procedures to be followed by the board and the parties in proceeding with review of and action upon the complaint. 

(4)
All further pleadings and papers in the matter filed by any party shall certify that a copy has been furnished to all other parties. 

(5)
Complaints and hearings concerning complaints shall be conducted under the provisions of KRS Chapter 13B, including without limitation the due process rights of parties to proper notice, file motions, discover evidence, require production of any exculpatory information known to the board, introduce and examine witnesses, and be represented by counsel of their choice. The board or its hearing officer shall decide all motions to dismiss prior to any further proceedings in any matter and may refer any motion to the hearing officer for proposed findings, conclusions, and a recommended order. All proposed findings, conclusions, and recommended orders of hearing officers and all decisions, actions, and orders or similar materials of the board on every disciplinary matter, sanction, nonrenewal, reinstatement, and expiration of any inspector licenses shall be public.

(6)
(a)
The board shall publish an annual compilation of all decisions, actions, and orders of the board, certified by the board, setting forth:

1.
The nature of the controversy in every matter or proceeding in which final board action had been taken;

2.
The pertinent facts;

3.
The issue or issues decided, with specific citation to the operative statute and administrative regulation, if any;

4.
The action taken; and

5.
The reason or rationale for the action or actions, which may be designated the "holding."

(b)
The compilation also shall include copies of all laws and regulations applicable to home inspector licensing. The board shall provide a copy of the compilation to each licensed home inspector not less than annually, upon request.

(c)
Where an inspector licensee is the subject of a complaint and that inspector licensee also is a member of the board, or was a member of the board within the three (3) years previous to the date the complaint was filed, the name of that inspector licensee and status as a past or present board member shall be reported with the compiled decision, action, or order.

(d)
All compiled decisions, actions, and orders of the board:

1.
Shall be posted on the board’s Web site;

2.
May be reasonably relied upon by the general public;

3.
Shall be binding upon the board and its hearing officers, with respect to procedure and to the issues presented, in subsequent substantially similar circumstances or applications of the same provision of law or administrative regulation; and 

4.
Shall be persuasive authority in deciding other cases where no clear precedent applies, unless reversed or modified on appeal, or by subsequent prospective action by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the board in any disciplinary or inspector license renewal case.

(7)
The board may order any or all of the following sanctions for violations of subsection (9) of this section:

(a)
Suspension of any inspector license;

(b)
Revocation of any inspector license;

(c)
Probation of any inspector license for a period of up to twelve (12) months;

(d)
Successful completion of additional credit hours in home inspection courses from an approved provider or school; or

(e)
Issuance of a formal reprimand or an informal admonition.

(8)
(a)
An expired or revoked inspector license may be renewed or reinstated if the inspector licensee pays all necessary fees for renewal and meets all other inspector licensure requirements within one (1) year of the date of expiration or revocation. 

(b)
The board shall promulgate administrative regulations specifying:

1.
A grace period of not less than forty-five (45) days from the date of receipt by an inspector licensee of the notice of pending expiration required by subsection (4) of Section 12 of this Act; and

2.
A late fee not to exceed one hundred dollars ($100) if filed within the grace period and not to exceed fifty percent (50%) of the applicable renewal fee if filed after the grace period, in addition to the fees and requirements applicable to inspector licensees. 

(c)
An inspector licensee whose inspector license is expired, revoked, or suspended shall not engage in the practice of home inspection during the period during which the inspector license is expired, revoked, or suspended, and shall not receive any compensation for home inspection unless the compensation was earned prior to the effective date of such expiration, revocation, or suspension.

(9)
The board shall impose sanctions set out in subsection (7) of this section against an inspector licensee for:

(a)
Obtaining an inspector license through false or fraudulent substantive representations that materially misled the board in granting or renewing an inspector license;

(b)
Making any substantial misrepresentation or failing to disclose visible and known significant deficiencies in a home inspection report which materially and substantially affect the value of the residential dwelling and its attached garage or garages;

(c)
Making any false material promises that mislead or induce action by the home inspector client to the home inspector client’s detriment;

(d)
Offering to or performing any repairs, remodeling, or similar services for a home inspector client on any inspected residence or attached garage, within twelve (12) months after performing a home inspection or providing a home inspection report on the same residence or attached garage, for the purposes of remedying, repairing, or otherwise rehabilitating any deficiency or damage, including without limitation wood-destroying insect damage, that was reported in the home inspection report;

(e)
Pursuing a continued and flagrant course of misrepresentations or making false promises through agents, employees, business co-owners, advertising, or other means;

(f)
Receiving compensation or any other thing of value in excess of one hundred dollars ($100) from more than one (1) party to any real estate transaction without the written consent of all parties;

(g)
Entering a plea of guilty or an Alford plea or having been found guilty of, or convicted of, a felony or a misdemeanor involving sexual misconduct, burglary, or breaking and entering a residential dwelling for which the time for appeal has expired or the judgment or conviction has been affirmed on appeal and is final, irrespective of any order granting probation following the conviction or suspending the imposition of sentence; 

(h)
Failing to notify the board within sixty (60) days after the date on which any judgment or conviction for a felony, or a misdemeanor involving sexual misconduct, burglary, or breaking and entering a home, became final and unappealable; or

(i)
Committing gross negligence.

(10)
The board may issue a formal reprimand or informal admonition, or require additional continuing education credits up to fifty-six (56) credit hours in any two (2) year period, for the renewal of an inspector license by any inspector licensee found, after a hearing, to have otherwise violated the standards of conduct set forth in administrative regulations promulgated pursuant to Sections 1 to 19 of this Act or the standards of practice under which the inspector licensee practices home inspections. For purposes of this subsection, the board shall consider only conduct arising directly from activities authorized or required by home inspector licensing during the time period the inspector licensee was a licensed home inspector. Activities arising from or related to any license, other than a license, capacity, or employment identified in Section 2 of this Act, shall not be deemed relevant or material to any inspector license issuance, renewal, reinstatement, or complaint, nor shall activities which occurred more than ten (10) years prior to a complaint or any applicant’s filing for inspector license issuance, renewal, reinstatement, except those identified in subsection (9)(g) or (h) of this section.

(11)
If more than one (1) violation is committed in any renewal period, the board may impose progressive discipline, including consecutive or concurrent sanctions, based on the inspector licensee’s actual notice of violations found by the board, time of complaints, the number of home inspector clients involved, and the interests of justice.

(12)
The board shall, before denying an application for a license or license renewal or before ordering any disciplinary action against an inspector licensee, order a hearing. The hearing shall be fair and impartial and conducted in accordance with KRS Chapter 13B. 

(13)
All hearings shall be conducted by an administrative law judge appointed by the board, who may be referred to as the "hearing officer." Hearing officers may dismiss a complaint pursuant to this section but shall not order any action or sanction against an inspector licensee. The functions of hearing officers appointed to conduct hearings shall be to:

(a)
Adjudicate motions and issues presented as to board jurisdiction or dismissal, if any, as provided in this section;

(b)
Preside at the hearing and any prehearing conference;

(c)
Conduct the hearing in accordance with KRS Chapter 13B, Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, and the Kentucky Rules of Evidence; and 

(d)
Prepare proposed findings and conclusions with a recommended order to be submitted to the board after considering any exceptions presented. Any proposed findings, conclusions, and recommended orders shall be a final record which is public not later than the date submitted to the board.

(14)
A hearing on sanctions and any recommended sanction shall be held not less than forty (40) days following a decision that a violation of subsection (9) or (10) of this section occurred. The sanction hearing may be waived by the inspector licensee. The board shall promulgate administrative regulations adopting a system of progressive discipline, such as inspector license points, to ensure uniformity, impartiality, and predictability in the imposition of sanctions.

(15)
All board meetings during which a complaint, disciplinary, or inspector license renewal or reinstatement matter is considered shall be conducted in accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order.

(16)
The board may summarily suspend an inspector license for up to ninety (90) days before a final adjudication or during an appeal of the board's determination if the board finds that the inspector licensee would represent a clear and immediate danger to the public's health, safety, or property if allowed to perform home inspections. The summary suspension may be renewed upon a hearing before the board for up to ninety (90) days.

(17)
If the board:

(a)
Determines that an individual is not licensed under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act and is engaged in or believed to be engaged in activities for which a license is required under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, the board shall issue an order to that individual requiring the individual to show cause why the individual should not be ordered to cease and desist from the activities. The show cause order shall set forth a date, time, and place for a hearing at which the individual shall appear and show cause why the individual should not be subject to inspector licensing under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act;

(b)
After a hearing, determines that the activities in which the individual is engaged are subject to licensing under Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, the board may issue a cease and desist order that identifies the individual and describes activities that are the subject of the order.

(18)
A cease and desist order issued under this section shall be enforceable in the Circuit Court of the county where the board's office is located, the Circuit Court of the county where the violation occurred, or any other Circuit Court of the Commonwealth.

Section 17.   KRS 198B.732 is repealed, reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324, and amended to read as follows:

(1)
An individual is guilty of a Class B misdemeanor if the individual:

(a)
Performs or offers to perform home inspections for compensation without being licensed as a home inspector and without being exempt from inspector licensing;

(b)
Presents as the individual's own the inspector license of another;

(c)
Intentionally gives false or materially misleading information to the board or to a board member in connection with an inspector[a] licensing matter;

(d)
Impersonates another inspector licensee; or

(e)
Uses an expired, suspended, revoked, or otherwise restricted inspector license.

(2)
An individual is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor if the individual is convicted of a second or subsequent offense under this section within five (5) years after a prior conviction of an offense under this section.

(3)
When entering a judgment for an offense under this section, the court shall impose a service fee of an amount equal to any fee or other compensation earned by the individual in the commission of the offense.

(4)
Each transaction involving unauthorized activities as described in this section shall constitute a separate offense.

(5)
In all actions for the collection of a fee or other compensation for performing home inspections, the party seeking relief shall allege and prove that, at the time that the cause of action arose, the party seeking relief was not in violation of Section 7 of this Act[KRS 198B.712].

(6)
The Kentucky Real Estate Commission[Housing, Buildings and Construction Legal Division within the Office of Legal Services in the Public Protection Cabinet] shall act as the legal adviser for the board and provide any legal assistance necessary to carry out this section.

Section 18.   KRS 198B.738 is repealed and reenacted as a new section of KRS Chapter 324 to read as follows:

Home inspectors, when acting in that capacity, are prohibited from indicating orally or in writing that any condition is or is not in compliance with any building code enforced under KRS Chapter 198B.

SECTION 19.   A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 324 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

(1)
The board shall be administratively attached to the Kentucky Real Estate Commission as provided in Sections 1 to 19 of this Act.

(2)
The board shall maintain the authority to promulgate administrative regulations to administer and enforce Sections 1 to 19 of this Act, and the Kentucky Real Estate Commission shall not have the authority to overrule any action or decision of the board. 

(3)
The board shall provide the Kentucky Real Estate Commission with copies of any administrative regulation that the board plans to promulgate, or information on any other matter that the board chooses to share, to allow the Kentucky Real Estate Commission the opportunity to advise and comment on these matters before they are finalized.

(4)
Nothing in Sections 1 to 19 of this Act shall be construed to affect:

(a)
The jurisdiction of the Kentucky Real Estate Commission; or 

(b)
Any person licensed as a real estate broker or sales associate by the Kentucky Real Estate Commission under this chapter.

Section 20.   KRS 198B.030 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
There is hereby created the Kentucky Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction within the Public Protection Cabinet. The Governor shall appoint a commissioner to head the department. The commissioner shall receive for his or her services such compensation as the Governor shall determine.

(2)
The commissioner may employ sufficient staff to carry out the functions of the commissioner's office. Neither the commissioner nor any member of his or her staff shall be employed, either directly or indirectly, in any aspect of the building industry as regulated by this chapter while employed by the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction.

(3)
The department shall serve as staff for the board of housing, buildings and construction as established by this chapter, and shall perform all budgeting, procurement, and other administrative activities necessary to the functioning of this body. The board shall prescribe the duties of the commissioner in addition to those duties otherwise delegated to him or her by the Governor or secretary, or prescribed for the commissioner by law. The department or commissioner shall submit any proposed administrative regulation to the board and shall not promulgate the administrative regulation without giving the board the opportunity to produce written comments, as required by subsection (8)[(9)] of this section. If the board chooses to produce written comments, these comments shall be attached to any public submission of the administrative regulation, including any filing under KRS Chapter 13A.

(4)
The department may enter into contracts or agreements with the federal government, its subdivisions and instrumentalities, other agencies of state government or with its subdivisions and instrumentalities, or with private profit or nonprofit organizations in order to effect the purposes of this chapter.

(5)
Subject to the direction of the board of housing, buildings and construction, the commissioner shall cooperate with the agencies of the United States and with the governing bodies and housing authorities of counties, cities, and with not for profit organizations and area development districts in relation to matters set forth in this chapter, and in any reasonable manner that may be necessary for the state to qualify for, and to receive grants or aid from such agencies. To these ends and subject to the direction of the board, the commissioner shall have the power to comply with each condition and execute such agreements as may be necessary, convenient, or desirable.

(6)
Nothing in this chapter shall preclude any other agency, board, or officer of the state from being designated as the directing or allocating agency, board, or officer for the distribution of federal grants and aid, or the performance of other duties to the extent necessary to qualify for and to receive grants and aid for programs under the administration of the department.

(7)
The commissioner is authorized to receive, for and on behalf of the state, the department, and the board of housing, buildings and construction, from the United States and agencies thereof, and from any and all other sources, grants and aid and gifts made for the purpose of providing, or to assist in providing, any of the programs authorized by this chapter, including expenses of administration. All such funds shall be paid into the state treasury and credited to a trust and agency fund to be used by the department in carrying out the provisions of this chapter. No part of this fund shall revert to the general fund of the Commonwealth.

(8)
[The Kentucky Board of Home Inspectors established in KRS 198B.704 shall be attached to the department for administrative purposes.

(9)
](a)
If the department has proposed a new or amended administrative regulation that directly and clearly relates to the work of a profession, class of workers, or industry that is under the authority of any board or advisory committee that is created by statute and is controlled, superseded, administratively attached, or affiliated with the department, the department shall not promulgate the proposed administrative regulation without first receiving comments from the affected board or advisory committee, subject to the restrictions of paragraph (b) of this subsection.

(b)
1.
If a proposed administrative regulation affects a board or advisory committee that qualifies under paragraph (a) of this subsection, the department shall distribute the proposed administrative regulation to the board or advisory committee.

2.
The affected board or advisory committee shall be granted a maximum of sixty (60) days to submit its comments on the proposed regulatory change. If the administrative regulation is a new emergency regulation, the affected board or advisory committee shall be granted a maximum of thirty (30) days to submit its comments on the proposed regulatory change.

3.
The time limits in this paragraph shall begin from the day the department submits the regulatory change and sets a date for a proposed hearing for the comments of the affected board or advisory committee. If the board or advisory committee is already scheduled to meet at a time that will give it an adequate opportunity to review the regulation and respond, the hearing may be held at that meeting.

4.
If a board or advisory committee is not scheduled to meet or meets only at the call of the department, the department shall arrange for the board or advisory committee to meet at a time that will allow the board or advisory committee an adequate opportunity to review and comment on the regulation within the time limit. If the affected board or advisory committee fails to comment within the time limit, the department may proceed with the administrative changes at its discretion.

(c)
To the extent that any other statute relating to the department's authority to promulgate administrative regulations conflicts with this section, this section shall take precedence.

(d)
If a board or advisory committee chooses to produce written comments, those comments shall be attached to any public submission of the administrative regulation, including any filing under KRS Chapter 13A.

(e)
The rights and privileges enumerated in this subsection that apply to boards and advisory committees shall also be granted to the Kentucky Board of Housing, Buildings and Construction.

(9)[(10)]
Any power or limitation relating to administrative regulations promulgated by the department that are subject to subsection (8)[(9)] of this section shall also apply to administrative regulations promulgated by the commissioner of the department.

Section 21.   KRS 198B.040 is amended to read as follows:

The Kentucky Board of Housing, Buildings and Construction shall have the following general powers and duties:

(1)
To conduct or cause to be conducted studies to determine the needs of the building industry of Kentucky;

(2)
To conduct or cause to be conducted or participate in studies of the costs of the various factors of building construction and use of buildings and to recommend programs and procedures which will minimize the cost of buildings, including the use of energy, while maintaining safety, durability, and comfort;

(3)
To administer regulatory legislation relating to buildings and construction;

(4)
To assume administrative coordination of the various state construction review programs and to cooperate with various federal, state, and local agencies in the programs as they relate to buildings and construction;

(5)
To assume administration and coordination of various state housing programs to include:

(a)
Devising and implementing procedures, in conjunction with the Department for Local Government, for attaining and maintaining an accurate count of the housing inventory in Kentucky, including information on the age, physical condition, size, facilities, and amenities of this housing, and housing constructed and demolished each year;

(b)
Designing programs coordinating the elements of housing finance, production, maintenance, and rehabilitation for the purpose of assuring the availability of safe, adequate housing in a healthful environment for all Kentucky citizens;

(c)
Establishing or causing to be established public information and educational programs relating to housing, to include informing Kentucky citizens about housing and housing related programs that are available on all levels of government;

(d)
Designing and administering, or participating in the design and administration of educational programs to prepare low income families for home ownership, and counseling them during their early years as homeowners;

(e)
Promoting educational programs to assist sponsors in the development and management of low and moderate income housing for sale or rental;

(f)
Cooperating with various federal, state, and local agencies in their programs as they relate to housing; and

(g)
Conducting or causing to be conducted studies to determine the housing preferences of Kentucky citizens and the present and future housing requirements of the state;

(6)
To recommend state building industry policies and goals to the Kentucky General Assembly;

(7)
To adopt and promulgate a mandatory uniform state building code, and parts thereof, which shall establish standards for the construction of all buildings, as defined in KRS 198B.010, in the state;

(8)
To promulgate administrative regulations providing for the proper construction of public water purification plants, other than the water treatment equipment and systems in such plants; provided, however, that any such regulations must require that applications for permits to build public water purification plants will be submitted by the department to the Energy and Environment Cabinet for that cabinet's comments. Any such regulations shall require the Energy and Environment Cabinet's comments to be completed and submitted to the department within sixty (60) days;

(9)
To promulgate administrative regulations providing for the proper construction of sewage treatment plants, other than the sewage treatment equipment and systems in such plants; provided, however, that any such regulations must require that applications for permits to build public sewage treatment plants will be submitted by the department to the Energy and Environment Cabinet for that cabinet's comments. Any such regulations shall require the Energy and Environment Cabinet's comments to be completed and submitted to the department within sixty (60) days; and

(10)
To promulgate administrative regulations for the safe installation and operation of plumbing and plumbing fixtures.

(11)
(a)
As used in this subsection, "main board" means the Kentucky Board of Housing, Buildings and Construction.

(b)
If the main board has proposed a new or amended administrative regulation that directly and clearly relates to the work of a profession, class of workers, or industry that is under the authority of any board or advisory committee that is created by statute and is controlled, superseded, administratively attached, or affiliated with the main board, the main board shall not promulgate the proposed administrative regulation without first receiving comments from the affected board or advisory committee, subject to the restrictions of paragraph (c) of this subsection.

(c)
1.
If a proposed administrative regulation affects a board or advisory committee that qualifies under paragraph (b) of this subsection, the main board shall distribute the proposed administrative regulation to the board or advisory committee.

2.
The affected board or advisory committee shall be granted a maximum of sixty (60) days to submit its comments on the proposed regulatory change. If the administrative regulation is a new emergency regulation, the affected board or advisory committee shall be granted a maximum of thirty (30) days to submit its comments on the proposed regulatory change.

3.
The time limits in this paragraph shall begin from the day the main board submits the regulatory change and sets a date for a proposed hearing for the comments of the affected board or advisory committee. If the board or advisory committee is already scheduled to meet at a time that will give it an adequate opportunity to review the regulation and respond, the hearing may be held at that meeting.

4.
If a board or advisory committee is not scheduled to meet or meets only at the call of the main board, the main board shall arrange for the board or advisory committee to meet at a time that will allow the board or advisory committee an adequate opportunity to review and comment on the regulation within the time limit. If the affected board or advisory committee fails to comment within the time limit, the main board may proceed with the administrative changes at its discretion.

(d)
To the extent that any other statute relating to the main board's authority to promulgate administrative regulations conflicts with this section, this section shall take precedence.

(e)
If a board or advisory committee chooses to produce written comments, those comments shall be attached to any public submission of the administrative regulation, including any filing under KRS Chapter 13A.

(12)
Any power or limitation relating to administrative regulations promulgated by the Kentucky Board of Housing, Buildings and Construction that are subject to subsection (11) of this section shall also apply to the department and commissioner as described in KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)].

Section 22.   KRS 198B.4005 (Effective July 1, 2011) is amended to read as follows:

(1)
The Elevator Advisory Committee is created within the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction. The committee shall consist of eight (8) members, one (1) of whom shall be the commissioner of the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction or his or her designee. The Governor shall appoint the remaining seven (7) members of the committee as follows:

(a)
One (1) representative from a nationally recognized elevator manufacturing company;

(b)
One (1) representative from an elevator servicing company;

(c)
One (1) representative from the general public who has no financial interest in the elevator or fixed guideway system industry;

(d)
One (1) representative involved in the installation, maintenance, and repair of elevators or fixed guideway systems;

(e)
One (1) representative of an accessibility or residential elevator company;

(f)
One (1) representative of the architectural design, elevator consulting, or engineering profession with experience in elevator design; and

(g)
One (1) representative of organized labor.

(2)
The commissioner of the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction shall serve as a member of the committee by virtue of his or her office. The appointed members of the committee shall serve for terms of three (3) years, except that, initially, two (2) members shall be appointed for a one (1) year term, two (2) members shall be appointed for two (2) year terms, and three (3) members shall be appointed for three (3) year terms. No committee member shall be appointed for more than two (2) successive terms, except as provided in subsection (4) of this section. The Governor shall, within the limits of this subsection, set the length of term of each of the initial appointees to the committee.

(3)
Vacancies occurring on the committee among those members appointed by the Governor shall be filled by seeking nominations as in subsection (1) of this section. A replacement for a committee member shall be appointed immediately upon the expiration of the departing committee member's term of service.

(4)
If a committee member vacates his or her position on the committee prior to the expiration of the member's term, a replacement member shall be appointed for the period of the unexpired term. If the unexpired term is less than two (2) years, the person selected to fill the unexpired term may subsequently be appointed to two (2) successive three (3) year terms.

(5)
Members may be removed from the committee by the Governor for unethical conduct, neglect of duty, incompetence, or for failure to attend three (3) or more consecutive meetings of the committee. A dismissed member's remaining term shall be completed by the replacement member appointed by the Governor.

(6)
The committee shall be given the opportunity to review and comment on relevant administrative regulations that are subject to the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11) and shall make recommendations to and otherwise advise the department on these matters. The committee shall perform any other duties and responsibilities relating to the development of administrative regulations for elevators and fixed guideway systems as assigned by the commissioner.

(7)
Those members of the committee who are not salaried governmental employees shall be compensated for their time when attending committee meetings or attending to official duties as directed by the committee at the rate of thirty-five dollars ($35) per day. All board members shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the conduct of board business.

(8)
The commissioner or his or her designee shall serve as chair of the Elevator Advisory Committee. The chair shall only vote in the event of a tie among the appointed advisory committee members.

(9)
No member of the committee shall vote on any matter which will result in his or her direct or indirect financial gain.

Section 23.   KRS 227.300 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
The commissioner shall promulgate reasonable rules and regulations based on good engineering practice and principles as embodied in recognized standards of fire prevention and protection, providing for a reasonable degree of safety for human life against the exigencies of fire and panic, and insuring as far as is practicable against fire loss. Such rules and regulations shall be known as the standards of safety. After promulgation of the Uniform State Building Code, no part of the standards of safety shall establish, in whole or in part, any building code other than the Uniform State Building Code, but the commissioner may supplement the Uniform State Building Code with fire safety regulations designed to operate in conjunction with the code.

(2)
In making such rules and regulations the commissioner shall establish minimum fire prevention and protection requirements, including but not limited to requirements for design, construction, installation, operation, storage, handling, maintenance, or use of the following: structural requirements for the various types of construction; building restrictions within congested districts; exit facilities from structures; fire alarm systems and fire extinguishing systems; fire emergency drills; maximum occupancy loads and other requirements for buildings of public assembly; flue and chimney construction; heating devices; boilers and pressure vessels; electrical wiring and equipment; air conditioning, ventilating and other duct systems; refrigeration systems; flammable liquids, oil and gas wells; garages, repair, and service shops; application of flammable finishes, acetylene, liquefied petroleum gas, and similar products; calcium carbide and acetylene generators; dry cleaning and dyeing plants; flammable motion picture film; combustible fibers; airports and airport buildings; hazardous chemicals; rubbish; open flame devices; parking of vehicles; dust explosions; lightning protection; and other special fire hazards.

(3)
For the purpose of integrating the need for safety from hazards of fire with the other safety needs of infants or preschool children under institutional care, the commissioner shall allow persons who own, manage, or are employed by institutions which provide care or education for infants or preschool children to participate in drafting the standards of safety as they apply to such institutions. Such participation shall be by representation of professional associations relating to infant and preschool care, and by representation from other individuals licensed to provide infant and preschool care, on a committee chaired by the state fire marshal or his or her designate. Such participation shall occur prior to the publication of proposed regulations in the administrative register pursuant to KRS 13A.050 but shall not limit any individual's right to use those procedures set forth in KRS Chapter 13A concerning comment on or protest of proposed regulations. All professional associations relating to infant and preschool care shall be notified by the commissioner when the drafting of standards of safety relating to such institutions is commenced and all such professional associations shall be regularly notified of the time and place of any meetings conducted by authorized employees of the department for the purpose of drafting such standards.

(4)
The commissioner shall publish guidelines relating to the standards of safety as they apply to day care and preschool child care centers and nurseries which shall indicate the items inspectors from the Division of Fire Prevention will be looking for when they conduct inspections pursuant to the standards of safety. Such guidelines shall be made available to persons who own, operate, or manage such centers or nurseries and shall be designed to enable said persons to anticipate and comply with the requirements of the standards of safety.

(5)
The commissioner shall issue supplemental regulations addressing the temporary change of use in buildings as authorized by KRS Chapter 198B. These regulations shall establish specific standards for such use and shall be designed to operate in conjunction with the Kentucky Building Code.

(6)
Any standards of safety or other regulations promulgated under this section shall be subject to the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11).

Section 24.   KRS 227.530 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
There is hereby created an Electrical Advisory Committee which shall be attached to the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction for administrative purposes. The committee shall be constituted as follows:

(a)
Two (2) members chosen from public utility companies;

(b)
Two (2) members who are electricians;

(c)
Two (2) members who are certified electrical inspectors, one (1) of whom shall be employed by a governmental entity and the other who shall be an independent contractor engaged in the business of inspecting electrical installations;

(d)
Two (2) members who are licensed professional electrical engineers;

(e)
Two (2) members who are engaged in the business of electrical contracting; and

(f)
One (1) member who is engaged in the business of electrical contracting and who employs no more than five (5) full-time employees when appointed.

(2)
Committee members shall be appointed by the Governor for four (4) year terms. No committee member shall be appointed for more than one (1) successive term.

(3)
The committee shall meet at least quarterly or upon request of the department for the purpose of considering matters relating to electrical installations and electrical inspections. The committee shall have the opportunity to review and comment on relevant administrative regulations that are subject to the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11) and shall make recommendations to and otherwise advise the department on these matters.

(4)
All committee members shall be compensated for expenses incurred in the conduct of Commonwealth business.

Section 25.   KRS 227.560 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
There is hereby created the Manufactured Home Certification and Licensure Board which shall issue certificates of acceptability to qualifying manufacturers and licenses to retailers and shall certify installers.

(2)
The board shall consist of the state fire marshal, the secretary of the Transportation Cabinet, the commissioner of the Department for Public Health, or their designees, and seven (7) citizens of the Commonwealth appointed by the Governor, which shall include three (3) manufactured or mobile home retailers, one (1) certified manufactured or mobile home installer, and three (3) members who shall have no interest in the industry to be regulated.

(3)
The state fire marshal, the secretary of the Transportation Cabinet, and the commissioner of the Department for Public Health shall be permanent members of the board, by virtue of their respective offices. The appointed members of the board shall hold office for terms of four (4) years with their terms expiring on September 1 of even-numbered years. Each member shall hold office until his or her successor is appointed and has qualified.

(4)
In the initial appointments to the board, the Governor shall designate three (3) members to serve for two (2) years and three (3) to serve for four (4) years. In the initial appointment of the certified manufactured or mobile home installer to the board, the Governor shall designate the member to serve for a term expiring September 1, 2004.

(5)
All members appointed from the manufactured housing industry shall be required to remain licensed and certified during their term and are subject to removal for chronic absenteeism.

(6)
If a vacancy occurs in the office of one (1) of the members of the board, the position shall be filled by a person appointed by the Governor, and the person so appointed shall serve only to the end of the unexpired term.

(7)
The chairman of the board shall be elected by the board. In the event of the chairman's absence or disability, the members of the board shall elect a temporary chairman by a majority vote of those present at a meeting.

(8)
Each appointed member shall be entitled to fifty dollars ($50) for each day he is in attendance at meetings or hearings or on authorized business of the board, including time spent in traveling to and from the place of the meeting, hearing, or other authorized business. Each member of the board shall also be entitled to reimbursement for travel and other necessary expenses incurred in performing official duties.

(9)
The chairman, or in his absence a temporary chairman selected by the members of the board present at the meeting, shall preside at all meetings of the board. The board shall have regular meetings at times specified by a majority vote of the board. The chairman may call special meetings at any time. He shall call a special meeting on written request by two (2) or more members of the board. A majority of the board shall constitute a quorum to transact business.

(10)
All staff assistance deemed necessary by the board to carry out the functions and duties assigned to it in KRS 227.550 to 227.660 shall be provided by the department and shall function under the supervision of the head of the department.

(11)
The provisions of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11) shall not apply to the board.

Section 26.   KRS 227A.040 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
The department, with assistance from the Electrical Advisory Committee, shall administer and enforce the provisions of KRS 227A.010 to 227A.140 and shall evaluate the qualifications of applicants for licensure.

(2)
The department may issue subpoenas, examine witnesses, pay appropriate witness fees, administer oaths, and investigate allegations of practices violating the provisions of KRS 227A.010 to 227A.140 or the administrative regulations promulgated under KRS 227A.010 to 227A.140 and KRS Chapter 13A.

(3)
The department shall conduct hearings under KRS Chapter 13B and keep records and minutes necessary to carry out the functions of KRS 227A.010 to 227A.140.

(4)
The department, with assistance from the Electrical Advisory Committee, shall evaluate the qualifications of applicants and issue licenses to qualified candidates.

(5)
The department shall renew licenses.

(6)
The department may:

(a)
Refuse to issue or renew a license;

(b)
Suspend or revoke a license;

(c)
Impose supervisory or probationary conditions upon a licensee;

(d)
Impose administrative disciplinary fines;

(e)
Issue written reprimands or admonishments; and

(f)
Take any combination of the actions permitted in this subsection.

(7)
The department may seek injunctive relief in the Circuit Court of Franklin County, in the county in which the violation occurred, or in the county where the business of the accused is located to stop any unlawful practice in KRS 227A.010 to 227A.140 and administrative regulations promulgated thereunder. The department may also seek injunctive relief for unlicensed persons who inappropriately use the title "electrical contractor," "electrician," or "master electrician."

(8)
The department, with comments and advice from the Electrical Advisory Committee if required by KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)], may promulgate administrative regulations to create a code of ethics and procedures governing the licensure of electrical contractors, electricians, and master electricians.

(9)
The department may enter into reciprocal agreements with other states having licensure, certification, or registration qualifications and requirements substantially equal to those of this state.

Section 27.   KRS 236.030 is amended to read as follows:

After reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard in accordance with KRS Chapter 13A, the commissioner of housing, buildings and construction, upon advisement and subject to comment by the board under the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11), shall, by administrative regulation, fix reasonable standards for the safe construction, installation, inspection, and repair of boilers, pressure vessels, and associated pressure piping in this state. Such administrative regulations shall be enforced by the Department of Housing, Buildings and Construction, Division of Plumbing.

Section 28.   KRS 318.077 is amended to read as follows:

The committee shall hold hearings, upon adequate notice to affected parties specifying the matters to be considered before the submission to the commissioner of its suggested amendments to the code. No amendment of the code or any other related regulation shall be issued or promulgated by the department without the prior review and comment of the committee under the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11). Any person aggrieved by any rule, regulation, or amendment approved by the department, within 30 days after such action has become final, may appeal therefrom to the Circuit Court. For the purposes of this section, "persons aggrieved" shall include any person directly or indirectly injured or threatened with injury on account of any such regulation, rule, or amendment, whether or not such person was a party to the proceedings out of which the order, rule, regulation, or amendment arose.

Section 29.   KRS 318.130 is amended to read as follows:

In order to administer this chapter, the department shall promulgate and thereafter from time to time may amend a code to be known as the Kentucky State Plumbing Code, regulating the construction, installation, and alteration of plumbing and plumbing fixtures and appliances, house sewers and private water supplies, and methods and materials to be used therein within this state, using as a minimum standard the basic principles of the National Plumbing Code Coordinating Committee, as evidenced by that committee's final report of 1951 with variations thereof or additions thereto as the committee considers are warranted by local, climatic, or other conditions. The code may also designate the number of plumbing fixtures for public buildings. The department may adopt any other reasonable rule or regulation to administer this chapter if the rule or regulation has been subject to review and comment by the committee under the requirements of KRS 198B.030(8) and (9)[ and (10)] and 198B.040(11). No rules or regulations so approved by the committee shall become effective except upon adoption by the department, in satisfaction of the requirements of KRS Chapter 13A. The department shall furnish to the committee proposed amendments to the code for the committee's review and comment prior to their adoption by the department. The department shall not promulgate any rules or regulations related to this chapter without granting the committee the opportunity to comment on the administrative regulation.

Section 30.   KRS 411.270 is amended to read as follows:

As used in KRS 411.270 to 411.282, unless the context otherwise requires:

(1)
"Action" means any civil lawsuit or action in contract or tort for damages or indemnity brought against a home inspector to assert a claim, whether by complaint, counterclaim, or cross-claim, for damages or the loss of use of real or personal property caused by a deficient home inspection or home inspection report regarding the inspection of a home. "Action" does not include any civil action in tort alleging personal injury or wrongful death to a person or persons resulting from a deficient home inspection or home inspection report;

(2)
"Claimant" means a client who asserts a claim against a home inspector concerning a deficient home inspection or home inspection report regarding the inspection of a home;

(3)
"Home" means a structure consisting of at least one (1) but not more than four (4) units, each designed for occupancy by a single family, whether the units are occupied or unoccupied;

(4)
"Home inspector" means a person licensed in accordance with KRS Chapter 324[198B.700 to 198B.738]; and

(5)
"Serve" or "service" means personal service or delivery by certified mail to the last known address of the addressee.

Section 31.   KRS 413.246 is amended to read as follows:

(1)
An action for damages, whether brought in contract or tort, or on any other basis, based on professional services that were rendered or that should have been rendered by a licensed home inspector under KRS Chapter 324[198B.700 to 198B.738] shall not be brought, commenced, or maintained unless the action is filed within one (1) year of the time that the claimant knew or should have known of a deficient inspection and damages and injuries resulting therefrom.

(2)
Nothing in this section creates any duty to a third party that is not available under common law.

Section 32.   Section 22 of this Act takes effect July 1, 2011.
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